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Praise for Stories in Glass…


   


This superb volume makes us look anew at stained glass in Norfolk. No-one knows more about medieval glass in the county than David King who puts names to some of the medieval artists whose work we treasure today. Paul Harley’s outstanding photography allows us to see details in the glass that would be impossible with the naked eye and complements David’s comprehensive descriptions of surviving windows and their incredible stories.          John E. Vigar, 	Ecclesiastical Historian


   


This instructive and beautiful book is just what is needed to explore the ancient stained glass in Norfolk, which has the richest collection of medieval and Renaissance glass in Britain. David King gives a good introduction to stained glass, its use, and iconography, as well as informative descriptions of the windows at many locations and relates them to other items in the buildings. Paul Harley’s photographs are superbly faithful to the windows.          Painton Cowen, 	The Online Stained Photographic Archive


Despite the best efforts of Protestant Reformers in the sixteenth century, Puritan iconoclasts in the seventeenth century, and centuries of exposure to the elements, Norfolk’s churches and historic buildings preserve a stained glass heritage of extraordinary richness and diversity. David King’s exemplary scholarship and in-depth knowledge of this rich heritage is well-known to academic circles. This lively, readable and beautifully illustrated book, with images by Paul Harley, is a remarkable treasure-trove of medieval glass can be enjoyed by a wide audience.          Professor Sarah Brown, 	Professor of Art History and Stained Glass Conservation, University of York


Norfolk’s medieval glass is one of its greatest treasures, and no one knows more about it than David King does. His words, coupled with Paul Harley’s outstanding photography, take us on an unforgettable journey through the very best of it. Stories In Glass will stand as the main text on the subject for many years, and it will be an essential companion for anyone following in their footsteps.          Simon Knott, Creator of the Churches of East Anglia websites


Scholarly and accessible, erudite and enjoyable, this book which will appeal to experts and newcomers alike. Both contributors are undisputed experts in their fields and the outstanding quality of Paul Harley’s photographs is matched by the depth of learning in David King’s introduction. Even if you know the glass well already, the photographs reveal details which are otherwise impossible to see and help to make this treasure trove of medieval art accessible. This book will delight and educate in equal measure.          Dr Rebecca Pinner, Associate Professor, University of East Anglia


Stories in Glass is a great entrée into the rich variety of surviving medieval stained glass in Norfolk. Bitesize entries to more than 60 locations across the county are accompanied by an insightful introduction on how to look at stained glass, the style and subjects of medieval windows, the glaziers and workshops who made them, and the donors and clients who commissioned and financed them.          Dr Jasmine Allen, Curator of The Stained Glass Museum
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Denton, east chancel window.
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Preface





The Norfolk landscape is almost unimaginable without the towers of its 650 churches punctuating the skyline. I have enjoyed exploring many of them over the years. As well as being places of worship, they are our free museums, treasure houses where you can see a thousand years of history in the same building: from a Saxon tower to a rood screen carved and painted 500 years later; stained glass, both ancient and modern; and then, perhaps, a children’s play area or a fund-raising bookstall from our own century. Almost 250 of these churches have examples of medieval glass.
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Figure 1: East Harling, Ascension, from east window of Lady Chapel, 1461-c. 1467.






It is easy to be overwhelmed when entering some of the bigger churches and it can take several visits to know a church well. In many, the medieval stained glass, missed by the iconoclasts and often by the casual visitor, is positioned high up in the tracery lights.


Church interiors nowadays are often plain. In the medieval period, both walls and windows were ablaze with colour. Stained or painted glass was thought to evoke a spiritual response and its use grew in popularity between the thirteenth and the sixteenth centuries, with different styles developing.


The remodelling of many churches in Norfolk in the fifteenth century provided great opportunities to local craftsmen and painters. The distinctive Norwich fifteenth-century glass-painting successfully used the rhythms of the lead lines and the rich tones and painting techniques that make the medium a unique art form. Contemporaries felt that when light shone through a painted window, it brought life to the saints and angels, as though they were radiating the spirit of God.


The opulence of some of the surviving glass is a clear indication that Norfolk’s merchant class was on the rise. Given the chance to express their religious attachments and concerns, they donated sequences of panels showing scenes like the crucifixion, the lives of the saints and the order of angels. These gifts of painted glass provided an immediate way to praise God, while, at the same time, promoting their families. It both showed off their wealth and shared it with fellow churchgoers. At the same time, it was a means of earning merit that would help to speed their souls through Purgatory. For a modern viewer, these vivid images breathe life into the faces of the people and the fashions of a bygone time.


The main focus of this book is Norfolk-made glass. Also included are examples of medieval glass taken from German and French churches and monasteries, collected by enterprising German weaver, John Christopher Hampp. He came to live in Norwich, and later, at the beginning of the nineteenth century, began to sell glass to the local gentry.


Sometimes it is enough to simply sit back in a pew and enjoy the beauty of stained glass windows as they cast their jewelled light on the stonework in the sun. There are, however, problems if you want to study the glass closely. To get a better view of the artistry of the painting and to isolate individual panels and identify some of the stories they tell, you need binoculars, a long lens or a stepladder and scaffolding.


My main purpose in presenting these photographs is to promote the wonders of Norfolk’s medieval stained glass. I have brought these images close to you through my photographs, where you can see them in the comfort of your home and judge for yourself their beauty and worth. At the same time, you can lose yourself in the medieval imagination as revealed by these mainly anonymous artisans, both men and women.


In his introduction and commentary, David King, the foremost expert on Norfolk medieval stained glass, outlines the history and reveals some of the stories hidden in it. The stained glass deserves to be seen more widely, and the aim of this book is to help readers understand the stories of the glass and its survival and to encourage readers to visit some of these churches to experience their special calm.


A word of thanks to those people, volunteers in the main, who keep most of these churches open daily and to the various organisations, both local and national, that have contributed to the upkeep of many of these historic buildings.


Paul Harley, January 2023












Introduction1








Survival


Stained glass is one of the most attractive of media, its special quality being that light passes through it, giving it an immediacy denied to other kinds of artistic production. It also keeps out the weather, illuminates the interior to the desired level and provides imagery and decoration. However, wind and rain and pollution damage the glass and its setting, leading to its loss where adequate conservation is not provided; changes in architectural fashion, sometimes involved the degree of light required, resulting in new windows, the original glazing being often discarded; in sacred spaces changes in what was considered appropriate imagery have resulted in similar replacements, and, at times of religious upheaval, in the deliberate destruction of much medieval stained glass. Thus, in what follows one must always bear in mind that only a tiny proportion of the medieval glass made for Norfolk buildings has survived.


In England, almost all of the earliest coloured glass glazing from late-Roman times onwards has been lost, known only from archaeological excavations, such as those at Anglo-Saxon Jarrow and Wearmouth. Survivals of stained glass before the twelfth century are rare, and most of those from the twelfth and thirteenth centuries are in cathedral or monastic contexts, such as Canterbury Cathedral and York Minster, although it is difficult in this country to assess how far parish churches were glazed at that time. In Norfolk, the chancel of one church, probably Caistor St Edmund, was glazed with medallions and possibly grisaille glass c. 1250 (see below) and a few other churches in the county have fragments of glass of that period, nearly all decorative grisaille, for example at Drayton, with churches such as Carleton Rode (fig. 2), Downham Market (fig. 52) and Dunston (fig. 56), having some figurative glass towards the end of the century.
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Figure 2: Carleton Rode, chancel window, King David, c. 1290-c. 1300.






In the succeeding centuries, stained glass was made in great profusion and in many European countries, but its survival still depended on chance and the amount of rebuilding and replacement or deliberate destruction of windows. France retains the most medieval glass, but Germany has many important sites, with several in Switzerland, Austria and Spain. In the Netherlands, much was destroyed or over-restored, but thousands of Flemish roundels made for the domestic market survive, mostly in other countries, such as the USA, which has much imported glass. In England, apart from panels now in museums, the surviving medieval glass is found in large quantities in only a few churches, such as Canterbury Cathedral, York Minster, King’s College Chapel, Cambridge, and Fairford parish church in Gloucestershire, but, in lesser amounts and in varying condition, in many more buildings, both sacred and secular, including some large museum collections.2 The reformation of the church in Great Britain from a Roman Catholic to a Protestant institution in the sixteenth century led to the destruction of a huge amount of stained glass, particularly in monasteries, and much more was lost during the Puritanical reign of Oliver Cromwell, with a further diminishing caused by neglect in the eighteenth century, followed by the over-zealous provision of new windows at the expense of old in the nineteenth century.







Medieval and early-modern stained glass in Norfolk


This book is intended to provide an introduction to medieval and some later stained glass in Norfolk. The county, as far as is known in the present state of research, has the largest number of locations with medieval and early-modern glass of any county in England, and also has a rich archive of information on what has been lost. It was very prosperous in the late Middle Ages, largely because of its production of wool, and most churches were partly or wholly rebuilt and glazed in the fourteenth, fifteenth or early-sixteenth century. Although the great bulk of the glass has been lost, the sheer number of churches in the county (over six hundred survive in whole or in part) means that, overall, a large amount of glass has survived, compared with many counties, but with a few exceptions in small individual quantities.


In addition to these many collections of local glass, Norfolk has benefited from the fact that the early-nineteenth-century revival in interest in medieval (and Renaissance) glass caused by large-scale importations from the continent was centred on Norwich (of which more later), with the result that, although this imported glass is now widely distributed across the country and abroad, much stayed in the county, which has 64 buildings containing sometimes large amounts of foreign stained glass.


In all, about 275 buildings, predominantly churches, have some ancient glass, although it has often been removed from its original setting, and is sometimes now in a different building. Almost 60 of the most important collections are described and illustrated below in order to give a representative taste of what is a truly remarkable heritage.








Looking at windows – context


When looking at stained glass in a church, an appreciation of context is important – how does (or did) the window relate to the rest of the church? This is often made difficult where the glass is incomplete or no longer in its original location. Knowing the original position of a window and its place in the liturgical and burial disposition of the church is helpful, as windows were often associated with altars, whose dedications were reflected in the glass, or with tombs, where the glass added to the commemoration of those buried in them. Some windows related to guilds or fraternities that met in a particular chapel. The imagery in the glass was often linked to that in wall paintings, sculptures, altarpieces and painted cloth hangings. For example, one gap in the subject matter of the original windows at Salle church (figs. 170-74) appears to have been the Life of Christ, and this was filled by the series of wood carvings on the roof of the chancel. Conversely, in some Norfolk churches there was some repetition in subject matter between windows and screens, many of which survive.







How stained glass changed


The appearance of windows naturally changed over time, partly because of the changes in design in the stonework of the windows in which they were placed, starting with single or compound lancets with no tracery, then simple geometric tracery forms, followed by the much more decorative and elaborate openings of the Decorated style, gradually replaced by the more linear and rigorous tracery patterns of the Perpendicular style. The use of colour also varied, the primary colours dominating thirteenth-century windows, unless they were grisaille windows made predominantly of painted white glass. A useful development in the early fourteenth century was the application of a yellow stain to enable coloured details to be added to a piece of white (and occasionally coloured) glass. To the primary colour spectrum was added more often, particularly after 1350, a range of intermediate colours such as purple, murrey and various shades of green. In the fifteenth century, a full range of colours was available, but there was often, particularly in parish churches, a return to a simpler palette, with the accent on red, blue and white, plus yellow stain, with smaller amounts of the other colours. Coloured glass was expensive, so that sometimes figures were painted solely on white glass, although this may have been also an aesthetic choice. In the sixteenth century there was a return to richly coloured windows, such as in King’s College, Cambridge, and in the remains of the east chancel window glazing at the churches of Norwich St Andrew (figs. 136-37) and Norwich St Stephen (figs. 150-51), although in more humble buildings a more modest choice was made.


Another aspect that changed over time was style. This involved different parts of the window, including figures (divided into head and drapery), canopy design and decorative elements such as backgrounds, borders and non-figurative roundels. Glass-painting was a shared activity, with different procedures and parts of a window being carried out by different workers. Analysis of the different styles seen in Norfolk glass has enabled many panels and windows to be ascribed to particular workshops, nearly all in Norwich, and in some cases to a named painter.








Problems of restoration


Looking at medieval stained glass requires some effort, particularly in this country, where so much of the extant glass has been damaged or moved. Over the centuries, but mainly in the nineteenth and twentieth, much of the glass has been restored, which may have ensured its survival, but the methods used have also sometimes made it more difficult to understand. Some skilful painters have restored the glass by repainting sections in such a way that to the untrained eye it is difficult to know what is old and what is new. A good example of this is at Poringland (figs. 162-63), where the restorer has wisely added the date to the new pieces. In this book, the illustrations have been chosen to avoid restored glass as far as possible. A common procedure in modern times has been to gather together what remains in the windows of a church into one window. The resulting arrangements vary from the aesthetically attractive to the grotesque, but any movement of glass can lead to a loss of contextual information. When foreign glass was acquired, the panels were often installed surrounded by a nineteenth-century setting, which sometimes included medieval local glass.







Antiquarian sources


One very useful resource to help in the understanding of a window that is no longer complete or that is lost is antiquarian descriptions and illustrations of glass. Norfolk is blessed with a large amount of such material, not only in published form – most importantly, the eleven-volume second edition of Blomefield and Parkin’s History of Norfolk3 – but also as manuscript and pictorial material in various archives and libraries, mainly the Norfolk Record Office, Norwich Castle Museum, the British Library in London and the Bodleian Library in Oxford. The earliest of the manuscripts date from around 1575. The scope of this book does not often permit a mention of this material in the descriptions, but many of the conclusions are based on it.







Financing and making the windows – donors


Most of the medieval glass in Norfolk was made for churches. In a few cases, such as at Elsing (figs. 68-70), the whole church was built and decorated by a single donor or group of donors, who may or may not have been the patron. More often, different donors provided glass for different parts of the church. The chancel was usually built and glazed by the rector, who was legally responsible, but others helped financially, especially if the advowson was in the hands of an ecclesiastical body. At Salle, a lost inscription in the chancel glazing recorded that the rector, William Wode, built and finished the chancel in 1440. This would have included the stained glass, enough of which is left to give a hint of its former magnificence (figs. 171-74). In many other churches there is evidence of a single chancel window given by the rector or patron, often including imagery marking the dedication of the church. A late-thirteenth-century figure of St Remigius in the north-east chancel window of the church of Dunston, dedicated to that saint, is accompanied by a kneeling figure of the prioress of Flixton, the patron (fig. 56). In the fourteenth century, figures of rectors themselves are recorded in chancel windows, or an inscription mentioning the rector or his shield of arms was present. Sometimes a lay patron gave a chancel window – such was the case at Chedgrave, where Sir James Hobart’s name occurred in the east window in 1521 (fig. 43) – or a lay donor who was not the patron gave a window, as was the case at Cringleford in the fourteenth century with Sir Adam de Berford, whose figure was in the east chancel window.


Other parts of the church had a variety of donors. At Norwich St Peter Mancroft (figs. 6, 147-50), the north chancel chapel had three windows, with the celebrated Toppes Window in the east.4 All three were given by a mayor of Norwich, or made to commemorate one. On the south side, one window was paid for by a suffragan bishop and probably painted by a female glazier.5 At East Harling (figs. 1, 5, 7, 64-67), the east windows of the chancel and Lady Chapel and a window in St Anne’s Chapel were given by the patron, Anne Harling.6 At Great Cressingham (figs. 80-82), the east window and probably all the windows of the north aisle were provided by Judge William Paston. In the absence of a wealthy donor, sometimes the members of a guild joined together to provide a window, as was the case, for example, at Hingham and Ringland in the fourteenth century and at Ringland also in the fifteenth (figs. 166-69).7


An overall picture of medieval stained glass donors in Norfolk reveals that in the fourteenth century, local landowners, including many members of the aristocracy, were predominant, but after that, donors came from a wider social background, including merchants (particularly in Norwich) and more humble parishioners. Throughout the period, the clergy were also frequent providers of windows, but in some cases with financial help from other sources







Choice of subject


Those paying for a window sometimes were able to choose its subject, provided it was approved by the church. Choosing a saint who shared the donor’s name was common, as at Salle c. 1444, where in the south transept Thomas Brigg is seen kneeling next to St Thomas of Canterbury, and St Margaret appears with Thomas’ two wives, who both had that name.8 Next to Thomas’ window was one depicting the Life of St John the Baptist, which was dedicated to the memory of a rector called John. Where saints were chosen by the donor, this could mean that the window was not part of a series with a common theme. However, there are cases in Norfolk, as elsewhere, of several windows depicting a linked series of subjects. The chancel at Salle was such a case, where the six side windows had a series of kings, bishops and popes based on a similar series in York Minster, with Old Testament figures and cardinals in the tracery. The south aisle side windows at Salle appear to have had an Old Testament cycle, but each window may have been paid for by a separate donor. The most extensive series of windows with a common figurative theme may have been at Wiggenhall St Mary Magdalene(figs. 218-20), where the six windows of the north aisle still retain in their traceries most of a set of 60 figures of angels and male saints taken from the Sarum Litanies, and there is some evidence that the south aisle may have had a similar series of female saints. Whether the main-light glass shared a common programme is not known. The windows were made by at least three different workshops in the first half of the fifteenth century and it is probable that various local dignitaries were the donors. The liturgical derivation was almost certainly devised by the patron of the church, the Cluniac Priory of Castle Acre.9
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Figure 3: North Tuddenham, porch window, angels singing, c. 1430-c. 1450.
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Figure 4: Wicklewood, nave window, Coronation of the Virgin (part), c. 1410-c.1415.






Thus, when we speak of the donor of the window, this may conceal a more complex situation. One person may have paid for the window, chosen the glazier and also the subject of the window, but, in many cases, others may have contributed towards the cost, the incumbent or patron may have had the final say on the subject matter and the glazier may have been left to work out the details of the design.








Why were stained glass windows made?


The motivation behind the provision of stained glass for churches was often complex. One aspect was the desire of donors for others to pray for their soul, and many windows had inscriptions asking people to do this. Another was the church’s need to ensure that all parishioners had a basic knowledge of Christian tenets, and several types of windows were provided as a means of ensuring this. Apostles bearing Creed scrolls could be used by priests as visual aids in teaching the tenets listed in the Creed. Although few people were fully competent in Latin, attendance at mass would have meant that many would have some familiarity with the language, and the priest in his homily would probably have provided a vernacular explanation. Other aspects of Christian belief were conveyed by visual imagery, such as the Corporal Works of Mercy and the Seven Sacraments. An important type of imagery was the depiction of saints, including single figures, series of saints of different kinds, for example, female saints or royal saints, and narrative lives of saints. These brought a sense of familiarity to parishioners, who may have found it easier to cultivate a personal devotion to a particular saint, often their name saint, than to a more abstract heavenly being such as the Holy Trinity. Many saints were believed to be a source of help for particular needs, for example, St Margaret in childbirth. Nevertheless, the cult of the Blessed Virgin Mary remained the most popular devotion in the late Middle Ages, as she was felt by many to be the most effective source of intercession with Christ. For women, she was a role model as a mother.


One reason for providing stained glass that is sometimes not given enough attention was the simple desire to praise God, a desire promoted by the church, but increasingly spontaneously felt by parishioners as the result of the growth of lay piety. The iconography of praise is everywhere to be seen in Norfolk churches, predominantly in the form of angels in glass, wood and stone carving. Many of the angels are playing musical instruments and others sing, bearing sometimes the liturgical texts that they sing (and occasionally elsewhere the musical notation), for example, at East Barsham (figs. 61-63) and Great Cressingham (figs. 80-81).


The many displays of local heraldry, sometimes combined with that of the nobility, on the other hand, speak of the desire of armigerous donors to assert their family connections, and their connections with those above them in the social hierarchy. Church windows, being seen by all parishioners, were a very effective means of achieving this. Another rather different reason for the provision of a window was to promote a political point of view, going beyond heraldic display and using often very sophisticated means. A number of such cases have been found in Norfolk glass at Norwich St Peter Mancroft (fig. 149), East Harling, Salle and Wiggenhall St Peter (in glass now at North Tuddenham, figs. 125-26), all from the fifteenth century, either in favour of the Yorkist or Lancastrian regime, or, in the last case, commenting on local politics in King’s Lynn.10 The example at East Harling is explained below. This aspect may seem to the modern mind to have been inappropriate, but to the medieval mind allegiance to royalty was closely linked to religious adherence, as the king was often identified as God’s earthly representative, and in the case of King’s Lynn, the politics also concerned both the king and the bishop of Norwich.








Glaziers and workshops


The question of where the windows in Norfolk were made and by whom can be answered to a greater extent than in most areas of the country, thanks largely to two circumstances: firstly, as Norwich was one of the largest cities in England in the late Middle Ages, it was able to support a number of large and long-lasting glaziers’ workshops, each having recognisable stylistic characteristics; and secondly, the county and especially its capital retain an extensive archive, allowing workshops to be constructed from the documentary information it contains.11


The earliest possible reference to a glazier in Norfolk was in 1140, when Daniel vitrarius (glazier) was made abbot of the monastery of St Benet at Holm. He had been a married man and would have exercised his craft well before becoming abbot. The earliest extant stained glass in Norfolk of note is now in Saxlingham Nethergate church (fig. 180), consisting of four medallions and some grisaille glass of c. 1250. It has recently been discovered that this glass almost certainly came from Caistor St Edmund church, where the chancel has four side windows of this date and of a size to accommodate this glass. The advowson of the church was owned by the Abbey of Bury St Edmund (some of the medallions depict St Edmund), although the windows were probably made in Norwich. A few other remains of grisaille glass of the same date are in other parish churches or have been found in excavations, but rather more monastic sites have produced examples when excavated.


There is a single reference to a glazier in Norwich in 1241, but continuous glazing activity in the city is documented from 1280, when a glazier and his son were paid for work at Norwich Cathedral. The glaziers in the late thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries lived mainly in the area around Tombland outside the gates to the cathedral and some are documented as working for the cathedral, which had been badly damaged in a riot in 1272.


From about 1350 onwards, glaziers were acquiring properties further south on Conesford (modern King Street). The mid-fourteenth-century Conesford glaziers almost certainly painted glass for the Franciscan friary there (some of them lived opposite) and possibly for the Augustinian friary further down the street. Some of the Franciscan friary glass has survived because the building and its contents were acquired at the Reformation by Thomas Howard, Duke of Norfolk. The Howards had a house in Surrey Street in Norwich, where in the nineteenth century William Stevenson lived, who traded in glass. In 1805 an antiquarian visited him and bought a panel of glass from the friary depicting the Crucifixion, which must have survived in the house since the sixteenth century. Some of the King Street glaziers of this period were impressed in 1351 to work on the glazing of St Stephen’s Chapel, Westminster, and one worked on the glass made at Westminster for Windsor Castle in 1352/3.


A later glazier who worked for the cathedral and had a workshop in Tombland previously owned by Gilbert Sadler was Robert Markaunt, made a freeman in 1379/80. He was paid by the cathedral almoner in 1412 for glazing in the chancel at Wicklewood. Starting with some extant glass there of about that date (fig. 4), glass in a number of other churches can be attributed to his workshop on the basis of style, including Besthorpe (figs. 26-27), Saxlingham Nethergate (fig. 179), South Burlingham and Kimberley (fig. 106).


The production of stained glass in Norwich was dominated for much of the century by two workshops, called the John Wighton and the William Heyward Workshops, after their principal members, but these firms existed for longer than the careers of John or William.
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Figure 5: East Harling, fragments from east chancel Te Deum window, 1491-1498.
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Figure 6: Norwich, St Peter Mancroft, panel from Passion Window, 1449-c. 1455.






The earlier workshop was that of John Wighton, born in Wighton (figs. 221-22) in north Norfolk, where he was called John Harrowe. In 1411 he became a freeman of Norwich and in 1416 took over as an executor of Adam Hadesco, one of the King Street glaziers who had died some time before then. He soon became established in the city and in 1435 was city treasurer; in 1445 and 1447 he was warden of the glaziers’ craft, supervising quality control of their work. He became an alderman in 1453 and died in 1457. Several members of his workshop are known. William Mundeford, a Dutchman, worked for him, William’s wife Helen also being a glazier. William had a long career, not dying until 1478. His son John was apprenticed to Wighton, becoming free in 1453: other apprentices are known, but John is thought to have become the leader of the workshop after his master’s death, until his own demise in 1481. Glass at Norwich St Peter Mancroft (figs. 147-50), East Harling (figs. 1 and 64-66) and several other churches as well as Norwich Guildhall (figs. 131-33 and 135) has been attributed to the three Mundefords, each having their own recognisable style. It is much harder, paradoxically, to be sure of which glass was painted by John Wighton. By the time of the two most important commissions at St Peter Mancroft (c. 1450-c. 1460) and East Harling (1461-c. 1470), he was either an old man (also, from 1453, an alderman) or dead, and in any case the leader of a workshop often concentrated on producing designs for windows, leaving the execution to glass-painters in his employ. Perhaps the most probable attributions to his own hand are the chancel glazing at Salle (figs. 170-72) and some related panels at Wighton, his home town, where the workshop is recorded as working in 1455/6, but where some earlier glass is by the same workshop. After the deaths of William and John Mundeford, the workshop probably continued until the end of the century under John Wighton’s nephew John Wighton II, but seems to have been in decline.


This may have been because of the competition from the second large workshop. It probably started under a glazier called Thomas Goldbeater, who is not recorded as a freeman, as he was a member of the gentry. He is first mentioned as a glazier in 1431 in a will and then in a muster roll for Conesford in 1457. Of his three apprentices, two were glaziers and one was a painter. One of the glaziers was Nicholas Heyward, free in 1469/70. Goldbeater wrote his will in 1467. The clerestory glazing at Ringland (figs. 167-69) may have been the work of this workshop, possibly during Goldbeater’s lifetime. The mixed media skills acquired there – painting and glazing – were maintained and extended after his death. Nicholas Heyward had a younger brother called William, who was an apprentice glazier to Richard Stoore, who had been trained by Goldbeater as a painter, but who later became known as a glazier. Nicholas became a constable for Conesford in 1484, but brother William, although he died before Nicholas, was a much more prominent member of the artisan class in the city, becoming an alderman in 1505, like John Wighton in 1453, having been made a freeman in 1485 and also serving as a councillor and auditor for the prestigious Guild of St George.


William was commissioned to make two known windows in the county. In 1503 he was paid by Thomas Sharington of Cranworth for glazing a window in Thuxton church with a depiction of the Transfiguration and figures of Thomas and his wife Katherine kneeling and wearing coats of arms. This window no longer exists.



OEBPS/images/pgviii-ix.jpg
0y
s,

Emneth

Outwell

i 1 i ot
““““ i

T

Burnham Deepdale

HUNSTANTON

=

wri=h  Walsingham

WtCES =

Warham

Wighton St Mary

fTTa)

East Barsham

w
Sandringham ‘ i —

West Rudham
%ﬂ-\fr\ﬁ

Harpley -'
l' adhn s

Tt @ KINGS CYNN L
"3 ML (izhzn
Mileham

St Mary M len,

..:f_l:|

Narborough

FAST DEREHAM

SWAFFHAM

ik

Great Cressingham

Ashill

WATTON

III I i Hirin
Norwich Cathederal S au— !

Al M

St Andrew

St Michael at Plea
A A [
= = -

St Peter Hungate

\

"m‘u
PAS Y I

East Harling

THETTORD

FARENHAM

: Cley
V.‘F- m l“
Bale CROMER.
HOLT Felbrigg Hall | |
s Stody oo

Colby

Blickling Hall = . ®

=

Banningham

AYCSHAM

[} Stratton

Strawless

fil o

Cawston ]

l‘ —
F A DU
Elsing

b

North Tuddenham

Ring] Imd‘“

Frode o

NORTH
WALSHAM

ﬂ_llllui h'"

Hoveton St John

NORWICH

Bawburgh 4
A

| &=

ol 1 s

A

Y Kimberley i Dunstyn
T —_—
““". i A
el Ketteringham

Hingham Mulbarton

ww Besthorpe
|
- .
Iy E

Attleborough

Ih

Nethergate §aavhyiaty

Saxlingham

# 0ld Buckenham ‘

l— [ =

Earsham

DIss

Poringland

STALHAM

8 1 Y

M artham

GREAT
YARMOUTH

4 South Quay sk

|
"
Thurton
Langley I b o N
Chedgrave

PN CowesTOTT

BecCces





OEBPS/images/Figure_5.jpg
4\"
i

»':"
b <
Bm
V'l
)

’s""‘






OEBPS/images/Figure_3.jpg





OEBPS/images/logo-1.jpg





OEBPS/images/logo-2.jpg





OEBPS/images/pgiv.jpg
~.
-
1 LNy
AV /\/
.
Lot
W
"
>

L3
~

o = < 22
=

—

ldll!FﬁﬁE
S §

- -
=%
=
&
"m;ﬂiygesi(
TGS

v
LS
a

1
%

RS % PR
b nl
ot S

S .! ¢
—
<5
i

¥ -

\ B

A
1
Y

’ .0;.3 i
=

!“'QA N
i},?\& ot

i
ke ) Gro
P RN
B ol B A
L 7SR Sl B
L P

i -3‘\&!'? =
RSN \"{t ‘
N7 7o

& ‘c““v‘
e LR Ry
7 SR "\
gk{‘-’}u;n_ﬁ’;ﬁ
I
7R N
{7 D
B!

!ag’r“‘" A |
| T

7 A
WV IL NG SRR e AR
S e A
PSR R e
TS A2 1 DL T
i oo antee ¥ BNGEEaeh:
SSRZSNEE  Y_ame

e b B

A\ T .
o Wi, ¥
=

— o
ok ‘k&'-'i:.“"sﬁ
AV L |

e, @
i
13
:

*
s

‘A§:\ “8‘"»' -
= ;‘(’,"',‘*:j b 9

N N

iSaris

XWX
G,
2 e
D:

.

 DRDOE,

PSR 2L L SO
: ' Jrn
@ ;gl 5
YN
A LA

G

i Al J





OEBPS/images/Figure_1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Figure_2.jpg
y
‘.,r./.w

ﬂxwg

b e..“%wx

> _i.r_\_P

B ¥

m; e Q\
: .l \\\\

»






OEBPS/images/pgvi.jpg
PAUL MELLON CENTRE
for Studies in British Art





OEBPS/nav.xhtml




Contents





		Praise for Stories in Glass…



		Title Page



		Copyright



		Contents



		Map



		Preface by Paul Harley



		Introduction



		The Locations



		Bibliography



		Glossary



		Index of Locations











List of Figures





		Figure 1: East Harling, Ascension, from east window of Lady Chapel, 1461-c. 1467.



		Figure 2: Carleton Rode, chancel window, King David, c. 1290-c. 1300.



		Figure 3: North Tuddenham, porch window, angels singing, c. 1430-c. 1450.



		Figure 4: Wicklewood, nave window, Coronation of the Virgin (part), c. 1410-c.1415.



		Figure 5: East Harling, fragments from east chancel Te Deum window, 1491-1498.



		Figure 6: Norwich, St Peter Mancroft, panel from Passion Window, 1449-c. 1455.



		Figure 7: East Harling, Assumption of Virgin Mary, from Lady Chapel, 1461-c. 1467.



		Figure 8: Marsham, south aisle window, Judas Maccabaeus, c. 1525, from the house of Thomas Pykerell, Norwich.



		Figure 9: Marsham, south aisle window, King David, c. 1525, from the house of Thomas Pykerell, Norwich.



		Figure 10: Melton Constable, arms of the City of Norwich, c. 1531-c. 1540.



		Figure 11: Stradsett, Adoration of the Magi, from Cologne, Germany, 1540.



		Figure 12: Ashill, north nave window, St Augustine, c. 1455-c. 1465.



		Figure 13: Ashill, north nave window, St John the Evangelist, c. 1455-c. 1465.



		Figure 14: Attleborough, west window, Evangelist Symbols, c. 1340-1360.



		Figure 15: Attleborough, west window, harping angel, c. 1340-1360.



		Figure 16 (left): Bale, prophets, c. 1360-c. 1380.



		Figure 17: (below) Bale, south nave window, Virgin Mary Annunciate, detail, c. 1460 – c. 1470.



		Figure 18 (opposite): Bale, south nave window, 14th-century and 15th-century.



		Figure 19: Bale, Virgin Annunciate, c. 1460-c. 1470.



		Figure 20 (right): Banningham, north aisle window, Gabriel, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 21 (below): south aisle window, seraph, cherub, c. 1445-c. 1455; Evangelist and St Matthew, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 22: Bawburgh, south nave window, St Barbara, c. 1470-c. 1475.



		Figure 23 (left): Bawburgh, south nave window, Gabriel, c. 1470-c. 1475.



		Figure 24 (right): Bawburgh, east chancel window, head of God the Father?, c. 1490-c. 1500.



		Figure 25: Besthorpe, two musicians (from Cawston), c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 26 (above, left): Besthorpe, St Michael, c. 1400-c. 1420.



		Figure 27 (above, right): Besthorpe, St George, c. 1400-c. 1420.



		Figure 28 (right): Besthorpe, Fragment of Labours of the Months roundel, c. 1485-c. 1500.



		Figure 29: Blickling Hall, Doubting Thomas, from Steinfeld, Germany, 1542.



		Figure 30 (left): Blickling Hall, Presentation of the Virgin Mary in the Temple, Normandy, c. 1500-c. 1510.



		Figure 31 (right): Blickling Hall, Massacre of the Innocents, German, Cologne, c. 1530-c. 1540.



		Figure 32 (above): Burnham Deepdale, moon, porch window, c. 1435-c. 1445.



		Figure 33 (below): Burnham Deepdale, west tower window, censing angel, c. 1435-c. 1445.



		Figure 34 (left): Burnham Deepdale, north aisle window, detail of St Ursula, c. 1500-c. 1510.



		Figure 35 (above): Cawston, south aisle window, musical angel, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 36 (above, left): Cawston, south aisle window, fragments from north aisle windows, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 37 (above, right): Cawston, south aisle window, fragments from north aisle windows, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 38 (above, centre): Watercolour by CJW Winter, 1849, of glass at Cawston. Copyright © Norfolk Museums.



		Figure 39 (below): Cawston, south aisle window, two musical angels, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 40 (left, below): Chedgrave, St John Evangelist, Cologne, c. 1430-c. 1435.



		Figure 41 (right, above): Chedgrave, the Virgin Mary on her Triumphal Chariot, France, Rouen, St Nicolas, c. 1540-c. 1550.



		Figure 42 (right, below): Chedgrave, Virgin and Child, St Peter and St Paul, appear to St Bernard, France? c. 1560-c. 1580.



		Figure 43: Chedgrave, east window, French and German glass.



		Figure 44 (above): Cley, south aisle window, female saints, c. 1445-c. 1450.



		Figure 45 (left, below): Cley, south aisle window, St Agatha, c. 1445-c. 1450.



		Figure 46 (right, below) Cley south aisle window, Christ as Man of Sorrows, c. 1445-c. 1450.



		Figure 47 (above): Colby, east chancel window, pelican in her piety, c. 1421-c. 1432.



		Figure 48 (right): Colby, east chancel window, St John the Evangelist, c. 1421-c. 1432.



		Figure 49: Colby, east chancel window, Christ from Coronation of Virgin, c. 1421-c. 1432.



		Figure 50 (above): Denton, St Christopher and Eagle of St John, c. 1440-c. 1460.



		Figure 51 (right) Denton, north chancel window, roundel with Labour of the Month, c. 1480-c. 1500.



		Figure 52 (left, above): Downham Market, West Tower Window, St Barnabas c. 1290-c. 1310.



		Figure 53 (right, above): Downham Market, west tower window, souls at the Last Judgment, c. 1450-c. 1470.



		Figure 54 (left, below): Downham Market, West Tower Window, Composite Angel, fourteenth- and fifteenth-century.



		Figure 55 (right, below): Downham Market, west tower window, souls at the Last Judgment, c. 1450-c. 1470.



		Figure 56: Dunston, south chancel window, St Remigius and donor, c. 1288-c. 1300.



		Figure 57: Dunston, south chancel window, St Christopher, c. 1450-c. 1475.



		Figure 58: Earsham, south nave window, Joseph and his brothers, French, c. 1525-c. 1530.



		Figure 59 (above): Earsham, south nave window, Dives and Lazarus, Flanders, c. 1530-c. 1540.



		Figure 60 (right): Earsham, south nave window, Holy Family with St Anne and Joachim, Flanders, c. 1525-c. 1530.



		Figure 61 (above): East Barsham, north nave window, Visitation and musical angels, c. 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 62 (right): East Barsham, north nave window, angel playing shawm, c. 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 63 (far right): East Barsham, north nave window, angel playing harp, c. 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 64 (above): East Harling, Visitation from east window of Lady Chapel, detail, 1461-c. 1467.



		Figure 65 (right): East Harling, Nativity from the same window.



		Figure 66 (above, left): East Harling, Sir William Chamberlain, from north window of St Anne’s Chapel, c. 1467-1480.



		Figure 67 (above, right): East Harling, St Mary Magdalen, from south chancel window?, c. 1460-c. 1470.



		Figure 68 (right): Elsing, south chancel window, St Jude with Creed scroll, c. 1335-c. 1355?



		Figure 69 (opposite, left): Elsing, south chancel window, SS Jude and James the Less with Creed scrolls, c. 1335-c. 1355?



		Figure 70 (opposite, right): Elsing, south chancel window, fragments, arms of Foliot, the Prophet Haggai, c. 1335-c. 1355?



		Figure 71 (left): Emneth, north aisle window, angel playing harp, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 72 (right): Emneth, north aisle window, censing angel, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 73 (left): Emneth, north aisle window, St Sitha, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 74 (right): Emneth, north aisle window, angel with crown, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 75: Felbrigg Hall, Presentation of Christ in Temple, from St Peter Mancroft, Norwich, c. 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 76 (above, left): Felbrigg Hall, Virgin Mary gives palm to St John, from St Peter Mancroft, Norwich c. 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 77 (above, right): Felbrigg Hall, Jacob Schwytzer and wife, Switzerland, 1571.



		Figure 79 (below, right): Felbrigg Hall, Tarquinius Collatinus finding Lucretia, Flanders, c. 1530.



		Figure 80 (opposite): Great Cressingham, north aisle window, angels singing, c. 1435-c. 1445.



		Figure 81 (above): Great Cressingham, north aisle window, angels censing, playing and singing, c. 1435-c. 1445.



		Figure 82 (right): Great Cressingham, North Aisle Window, Archbishop and Bishop, c. 1435-c. 1445.



		Figure 83 (left): Great Walsingham, east window of north aisle, canopy top with grotesque, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 84 (below): Great Walsingham, east window of north aisle, Coronation of the Virgin, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 85 (opposite): Great Walsingham, east window of south aisle, heads of SS Peter and Paul, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 86 (opposite): Great Yarmouth, 4 South Quay, staircase window.



		Figure 87 (above, left): Great Yarmouth, 4 South Quay, kitchen window, fragment of SS John and Peter running to Christ’s tomb, Germany, monastery of Steinfeld, 1540-1542.



		Figure 88 (above, right): Great Yarmouth, 4 South Quay, gallery window, genre scene, Holland, 17th-century.



		Figure 89 (below left): Great Yarmouth, 4 South Quay, staircase window, St George and the Dragon, c. 1480-c. 1485.



		Figure 90 (below, right): Great Yarmouth, 4 South Quay, gallery window, ship, Holland, 17th-century.



		Figure 91: Harpley, west window of nave, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 92 (left): Harpley, west window of nave, Annunciation, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 93 (right): Harpley, west window of nave, SS Edmund and Edward the Confessor, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 94 (opposite): Hingham, east chancel window, Germany, monastery of Mittenwald, early-16th-century.



		Figure 95: Hingham, east chancel window, Wilhelm, Duke of Jülich and Berg, Germany, monastery of Mariawald, 1505.



		Figure 96: Hingham, east chancel window, Crucifixion, Germany, monastery of Mariawald, 1505.



		Figure 97: Hingham, east chancel window, St Thomas, Germany, monastery of Mariawald, 1505-1506.



		Figure 98 (above): Hoveton St John, south nave window, invocation, second half 15th-c.



		Figure 99 (below, left): Hoveton St John, south chancel window, St Margaret, Southern Low Countries, 1614.



		Figure 100 (below, right): Hoveton St John, south chancel window, roundel with the Creation of Eve, Flanders, 17th-century.



		Figure 101: Hoveton St John, south nave window, the Return of Tobias to his Father, Tobit, Swiss, c. 1600.



		Figure 102 (above): Ketteringham, east chancel window.



		Figure 103 (below): Ketteringham, Coronation of the Virgin, c. 1425-c. 1435.



		Figure 104: Ketteringham, east chancel window, angel playing a lute, c. 1425-c. 1435.



		Figure 105 (opposite): Kimberley, east chancel window.



		Figure 106 (left): Kimberley, east chancel window, St Margaret, c. 1375-c. 1390.



		Figure 107 (above): Kimberley, east chancel window, St John the Baptist and archbishop, c. 1340-c. 1360.



		Figure 108 (above): Langley, east chancel window, St Michael, English?, c. 1500, and Christ from the Coronation of the Virgin, c. 1445-c. 1455.



		Figure 109 (below): Langley, roundel with Christ the Gardener and St Mary Magdalen, Flanders or Germany, c. 1535-c. 1545.



		Figure 110 (opposite): Langley, east chancel window.



		Figure 111 (left, above): Martham, east window of south aisle, Eve spinning, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 112 (left, below): Martham, east window of south aisle, angel from the Order Thrones, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 113 (opposite): Martham, east window of south aisle.



		Figure 114 (left): Martham, parish church of St Mary, east window of north aisle, St Margaret, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 115 (right): Martham, parish church of St Mary, east window of south aisle, St Michael weighing souls, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 116 (left): Mileham, west window of nave, c. 1330-c. 1340 and later additions.



		Figure 117 (right): Mileham, west window of nave, St John the Baptist, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 118: Mileham, south aisle window, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 119 (left): Mulbarton, east chancel window, Adam and Eve expelled from the Garden of Eden, from Martham church, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 120 (right): Mulbarton, east chancel window, Adam delving, from Martham church, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 121: Mulbarton, east chancel window, angel from the Order Powers (head replaced), from Martham church, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 122: Narborough, north chancel window with Orders of Angels in tracery, c. 1415-c. 1425, and heraldry in main lights, 1578.



		Figure 123 (left): Narborough, north chancel window with angel from the Order Principalities, c. 1415-c. 1425.



		Figure 124 (right): Narborough, north chancel window with angel from the Order Powers, c. 1415-c. 1425.



		Figure 125: North Tuddenham, west tower window, panel from the Life of St Margaret, 1416–1425, from Wiggenhall St Peter. Credit Barley Studios.



		Figure 126 (left): North Tuddenham, west tower window, panel from the Life of St Margaret, 1416–1425, from Wiggenhall St Peter.



		Figure 127 (right): North Tuddenham, west tower window, panel from the Life of St George, from Wiggenhall St Peter?, c. 1420-c. 1430.



		Figure 128: Norwich Cathedral, east window of St Andrew’s Chapel, north transept, 16th- and 17th-century heraldry and Flemish roundels.



		Figure 129 (left): Norwich Cathedral, north window of Jesus Chapel, north ambulatory, Evangelist symbol of St Matthew, from Tottington church, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 130 (right): Norwich Cathedral, ‘Erpingham Window’ in north ambulatory, head of Moses, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 131: Norwich Guildhall, Mayoral Council Chamber, central east window.



		Figure 132 (above, left): Norwich Guildhall, Mayoral Council Chamber, central east window, St Bartholomew, detail, 1453?



		Figure 133 (above, right): Norwich Guildhall, Mayoral Council Chamber, northern east window, angel playing bagpipes, 1453?



		Figure 134 (left): Norwich Guildhall, Mayoral Council Chamber, central east window, shield in the Garter with the arms of Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester, 1559-1588, with initials of Robert Lathe, glazier, of Norwich.



		Figure 135: Norwich Guildhall, Mayoral Council Chamber, central east window, St John the Baptist, probably from the 1453 glazing.



		Figure 136: Norwich, parish church of St Andrew, south aisle window, lower half of the Sacrifice of Isaac, from the east chancel window, c. 1520-c. 1530.



		Figure 137 (left): Norwich, parish church of St Andrew, south aisle window, musical angels from the east chancel window, c. 1520-c. 1530.



		Figure 138 (right): Norwich, parish church of St Andrew, south aisle window, panel from a Dance of Death series, from the north clerestory windows, c. 1506-c. 1510.



		Figure 139: Norwich, parish church of St Michael at Plea, east chancel window, angel’s head, shrine and fragments, 15th-century.



		Figure 140 (left): Norwich, parish church of St Michael at Plea, east chancel window, the Virgin Mary from her Coronation, mid-15th-century.



		Figure 141 (right): Norwich, parish church of St Michael at Plea, east chancel window, angel from the Order Cherubim, c. 1460-c. 1480.



		Figure 142: Norwich, parish church of St Peter Hungate, east chancel window.



		Figure 143 (left, above): Norwich, parish church of St Peter Hungate, east chancel window, St Matthew or St Mark, detail, c. 1522.



		Figure 144 (left, middle): Norwich, parish church of St Peter Hungate, east chancel window, angel with text from the Nunc Dimittis, c. 1435-c. 1445.



		Figure 145 (left, below): Norwich, parish church of St Peter Hungate, east chancel window, St James the Great and St Simon, c. 1460-c. 1465.



		Figure 146 (right): Norwich, St Peter Hungate, west window, musical angel, c. 1460-c. 1465.



		Figure 147: Norwich, parish church of St Peter Mancroft, east chancel window, Robert Toppes and family, from the Toppes Window, formerly in the east window of the north chancel chapel, 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 148 (left): Norwich, parish church of St Peter Mancroft, east chancel window, St Peter and Simon Magus, from the Life of St Peter Window, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 149 (opposite): Norwich, parish church of St Peter Mancroft, east chancel window, the Jew who arrested the funeral of the Virgin Mary, from the Toppes Window, formerly in the east window of the north chancel chapel, 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 150 (next page): Norwich, parish church of St Peter Mancroft, east chancel window, the Visitation, from the Toppes Window, formerly in the east window of the north chancel chapel, 1450-c. 1455.



		Figure 151 (above): Norwich, parish church of St Stephen, east chancel window, lower part of the Sacrifice of Isaac, 1533.



		Figure 152 (right): Norwich, parish church of St Stephen, east chancel window, Apostle, Germany, monastery of Mariawald, 1505-1506.



		Figure 153 (opposite): Norwich, parish church of St Stephen, east chancel window.



		Figure 154: Norwich, parish church of St Stephen, east chancel window, St John the Baptist and angel, from the Last Judgement, and Saint with Maria, wife of Johann III of Cleve and Berg, Germany, monastery of Mariawald, 1513.



		Figure 155: Old Buckenham, parish church of All Saints, north nave window, 1447-c. 1450.



		Figure 156 (left): Old Buckenham, parish church of All Saints, north nave window, angel holding text, detail, 1447-c. 1450.



		Figure 157 (right): Old Buckenham, parish church of All Saints, north nave window, angel holding arms of Buckenham Priory, 1447-c. 1450.



		Figure 158: Outwell, parish church of St Clement, north chancel chapel window, Balthazar, c. 1520-c. 1530.



		Figure 159 (above): Outwell, east window of south aisle, c 1515-c. 1525.



		Figure 160 (below, left): Outwell, parish church of St Clement, east window of south aisle, God the Father from the Coronation of the Virgin, c. 1515-c. 1525.



		Figure 161 (below, right): Outwell, east window of south aisle, St Walstan, c. 1515-c. 1525.



		Figure 162 (left): Poringland, parish church of All Saints, east chancel window, Gabriel from the Annunciation, c. 1370-c. 1390.



		Figure 163 (right): Poringland, parish church of All Saints, east chancel window, the Risen Christ, c. 1370-c. 1390.



		Figure 164 (left): Poringland, east chancel window, Christ as the Man of Sorrows, c. 1445-c. 1475.



		Figure 165 (right): Poringland, east chancel window, shield of the Five Wounds, c. 1530-c. 1540.



		Figure 166: Ringland, south aisle window, roundel with centaur, c. 1330.



		Figure 167 (left): Ringland, north clerestory window, Gabriel from the Annunciation, c. 1460-c. 1470.



		Figure 168 (below): Ringland, north clerestory window, donor figures, c. 1460-c. 1470.



		Figure 169 (opposite): Ringland, north clerestory window, Holy Trinity and Virgin and child, with donors, c. 1460-c. 1470.



		Figure 170: Salle, east chancel window, angel from the Order Principalities, 1440.



		Figure 171 (above): Salle, north chancel window, prophets, patriarchs and cardinals, 1440.



		Figure 172 (below): Salle, north chancel window, prophet Elijah, 1440.



		Figure 173 (left): Salle, south window of south transept, angel playing lute or gittern, c. 1470-c. 1475.



		Figure 174 (right): Salle, south window of south transept, St Etheldreda, c. 1470-c. 1475.



		Figure 175: Sandringham, north aisle window, c. 1515-c. 1535.



		Figure 176 (left, above): Sandringham, south nave window, St Stephen, detail, c. 1515-c. 1535.



		Figure 177 (left, below) Sandringham, porch window, St Etheldreda, c. 1515-c. 1535.



		Figure 178 (right): Sandringham, south nave window, St Agnes, c. 1515-c. 1535.



		Figure 179: Saxlingham Nethergate, east chancel window.



		Figure 180 (left, above) Saxlingham Nethergate, south chancel window, St Edmund offers up the arrows of his martyrdom to heaven, almost certainly from Caistor St Edmund church, c. 1250.



		Figure 181 (left, below) Saxlingham Nethergate, north chancel window, St Jerome, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 182 (right): Saxlingham Nethergate, south chancel window, St James the Less, c. 1370-c. 1390.



		Figure 183: Saxlingham Nethergate, angel playing a vielle, from east window of north aisle, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 184 (above): Shelton, lower part of east chancel window.



		Figure 185 (left): Shelton, east chancel window, male and female donors, c. 1505-c. 1510.



		Figure 186 (opposite, left): Shelton, east window of north aisle, Resurrection, Germany, Cologne?, c. 1500-c. 1510.



		Figure 187 (opposite, right): Shelton, east window of south aisle, including kneeling man and woman, Germany, c. 1510-c. 1520, with added Shelton and Boleyn heraldry.



		Figure 188: South Creake, north aisle window, seated Christ or God the Father, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 189 (above): South Creake, north aisle window, St James the Less with Creed Scroll, mid-15th-c.



		Figure 190 (below): South Creake, south aisle window, censing angels, c. 1330-c. 1340.



		Figure 191 (above, left): Stody, north nave window, St Jude, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 192 (above, right): Stody, east window of south transept, St Catherine, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 193 (opposite): Stody, north nave window, Old Testament kings and patriarchs, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 194: Stratton Strawless, north nave window, the Four Evangelists with their symbols, 1473-1478?



		Figure 195 (above, left): Stratton Strawless, north nave window, St Luke, painting, 1473-1478?



		Figure 196 (above, right): Stratton Strawless, north nave window, head of angel, probably Gabriel, c. 1460-c. 1470.



		Figure 197 (below): Stratton Strawless, north nave window, St Catherine, St Margaret, Coronation of the Virgin, Annunciation, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 198: Thurton, east chancel window, the Sacrament of the Eucharist, Southern Low Countries, 1610–1659.



		Figure 199 (left): Thurton, east chancel window, heraldic achievement, Germany?, late-15th-century.



		Figure 200 (right): Thurton, Holy Trinity, attributed to William Mundeford, c. 1440-c. 1450.



		Figure 201 (above): Warham St Mary Magdalen, north nave window, two angels playing lutes, c. 1450-c. 1460.



		Figure 202 (left): Warham St Mary Magdalen, north nave window, censing angel, c. 1425-c. 1435.



		Figure 203 (opposite): Warham St Mary Magdalen, east chancel window, Entombment of Jesus, Germany, Cologne, c. 1530-c. 1540, and glass from the monastery of Steinfeld, Germany, 1530-1556.



		Figure 204 (opposite): Warham St Mary Magdalen, south chancel window, panels of French and German glass, 16th-century.



		Figure 205 (right): Warham St Mary Magdalen, west tower window, King David and arms of Cuno von Vlatten and Anna von Velbrück, from monastery of Mariawald, Germany, 1515.



		Figure 206 (opposite, left): West Rudham, north nave window, feathered angel, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 207 (opposite, right): West Rudham, north nave window, angel, probably Gabriel from an Annunciation, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 208 (above): West Rudham, north nave window, Christ Displaying his Wounds, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 209 (below, left): Wiggenhall St Mary Magdalene, first north aisle window from west, St Brice and St Aldhelm, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 210 (below, right): Wiggenhall St Mary Magdalene, second north aisle window from west, St Botulph, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 211: Wiggenhall St Mary Magdalene, fourth north aisle window from west, saints from the Sarum litanies, c. 1420-c. 1440.



		Figure 212 (left): Wighton, east window of south aisle, female saint, c. 1430-c. 1440.



		Figure 213 (right): Wighton, west window of south aisle, musical angel, c. 1430-c. 1440.
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